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Instructions to Offerors 

All spaces below and in the attached “Proposal Letter” form are to be filled in with signatures supplied 
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Proposal of: 

Name: 

Address: 

 

Telephone: 
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Email Address: 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Office 

Stone Mountain Memorial Association 

2003 Robert E. Lee Blvd. 

Confederate Hall Building 

Stone Mountain, Georgia 30083 
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STATE OF GEORGIA 

PROPOSAL LETTER 

 

It is understood and agreed that this proposal constitutes an offer, which when accepted in writing by the 
Stone Mountain Memorial Association, and subject to the execution and delivery of a lease and/or 
management agreement by the Stone Mountain Memorial Association, will constitute a valid and binding 
proposal between the undersigned and the Stone Mountain Memorial Association. 

It is understood and agreed that we have read the Stone Mountain Memorial Association’s specifications 
shown or referenced in the Request for Proposals (RFP) and that this proposal is made in accordance 
with the provisions of such specifications.  By our written signature on this proposal, we guarantee and 
certify that all items included in this proposal meet or exceed all such specifications.  We further agree, if 
awarded a contract, to deliver goods and services which meet or exceed the specifications. 

We understand and agree to abide by the provisions of Section 1.4 of the RFP regarding “Restrictions on 
Communications with Staff.”  We acknowledge that in accordance with Section 1.2 of this RFP, following 
the opening of Proposals discussions may be conducted by the Stone Mountain Memorial Association 
and/or their representatives with responsible offerors. 

It is understood and agreed that this proposal shall be valid and held open for a period of one hundred 
twenty (120) days from proposal opening date. 

 

PROPOSAL SIGNATURE AND CERTIFICATION 

(Offeror must sign and return with proposal) 

I certify that this proposal is made without prior understanding, agreement, or connection with any 
corporation, firm, or person submitting a proposal for the same materials, supplies, equipment, or 
services and is in all respects fair and without collusion or fraud.  I understand collusive bidding is a 
violation of State and Federal Law and can result in fines, prison sentences, and civil damage awards.  I 
agree to abide by all conditions of the proposal and certify that I am authorized to sign this proposal for 
the offeror.  I further certify that the provisions of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, Sections § 45-
10-20 et. seq. has not been violated and will not be violated in any respect. 

 

 

 
Authorized Signature        Date 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Purpose of Requests for Proposals 
 
To solicit proposals for consideration by the Stone Mountain Memorial Association to determine the 
interest of the private sector in connection with the potential agreement by the Stone Mountain Memorial 
Association to contract with a private vendor to operate the facilities, services and amenities described 
herein on a long-term lease basis and/or management contract. The Stone Mountain Memorial 
Association reserves the right to reject all proposals submitted in response to this request. 
 
 1.2 Basic Guidelines for this Request for Proposals 
 
The Stone Mountain Memorial Association has determined that the use of competitive sealed bidding will 
not be practical or advantageous to the State in completing the acquisition of the services and/or 
commodities described herein. Competitive sealed proposals shall be submitted in response hereto in 
the same manner as competitive sealed bids and shall be opened in the same manner as competitive 
sealed bids. 
 
The proposals shall be evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in this Request for 
Proposals (RFP). After the opening of the sealed proposals, discussions may be conducted by the Stone 
Mountain Memorial Association with responsible offerors who submit proposals determined to be 
reasonably susceptible of being selected for award for the purpose of clarification to assure full 
understanding of, and responsiveness to, the solicitation requirements. Offerors shall be accorded fair 
and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of proposals; and such 
revisions may be permitted after submissions and prior to award for the purpose of obtaining best and 
final offers. 
 
In conducting any such discussions, there shall be no disclosure of any information derived from 
proposals submitted by competing offerors. All such discussions shall be jointly conducted by the Issuing 
Officers named below: 
 
Bill Stephens Chief Executive Officer    R. Mark Woodworth 
Stone Mountain Memorial Association   R.M. Woodworth & Associates, LLC 
2027 Old Hugh Howell Road     3372 Peachtree Road, Suite 115 
Stone Mountain, GA. 30083     Atlanta, GA 30326 
Telephone: (770) 498-5611     Telephone: (678) 923-6007 
FAX: (770) 498-5601      E-mail:  Mark@RMWoodworth.com 
E-mail:  b.stephens@stonemountainpark.org  
  
An award may be made to the responsible offeror whose proposal is determined in writing to be the 
most advantageous for the Stone Mountain Memorial Association, considering all the evaluation factors 
set forth in this RFP.  The Stone Mountain Memorial Association reserves the right to reject all proposals 
submitted in response to this request. 

 

 

1



1.3 Calendar of Events 

Release of RFP 07/15/21 

RSVP for On-Site Tour 2:00 PM – 07/22/21 

Offerors' Conference / Site Tour 9:00 AM – 5:00 PM – 07/27/27 

Question Deadline 2:00 PM – 08/10/21 

Question Response Released 2:00 PM – 08/23/21 

Proposal Due to SMMA 2:00 PM – 09/08/21 

Ranking to be Completed 09/16/21  

Ranking Order to be Released 09/17/21 

Interview/Presentation of up to Top 3 
finalist 

09/24/21 – Schedule TBD 

Finalist Announced  On or before 10/01/21 
 

Contract negotiations with the top ranked offeror will begin ASAP. 

We ask that you please call Duane Studdard at (770) 498-5679 or email 
d.studdard@stonemountainpark.org in advance if you require special arrangements when you visit 
SMMA's offices. Please try to give at least one day's notice. The Georgia Relay Center at 1-800-255-0056 
(TDD Only) or 1-800-255-0135 (Voice) will relay messages for the speech and hearing impaired in strict 
confidence. 

Offerors' written questions will be responded to in writing and distributed to all organizations that receive 
the RFP on or before 2:00 PM, August 23, 2021. 

1.4 Restrictions on Communications with Staff 

From the issue date of this RFP until an apparent successful offeror is selected and the selection is 
announced, offerors are not allowed to communicate for any reason with any SMMA board member or 
any staff member or other personnel associated with the State of Georgia, including the SMMA, except 
through the Issuing Officers named herein, or during the offeror's conference, or as provided by existing 
work agreement(s). For violation of this provision, the Stone Mountain Memorial Association shall reserve 
the right to reject the proposal of the offending offeror. All substantive questions concerning this RFP 
must be submitted in writing (facsimile or email may be used) to the Issuing Officers. No questions other 
than written will be accepted. No response other than written will be binding upon the Stone Mountain 
Memorial Association. 

1.5 Definition of Terms 

O.C.G.A. - Official Code of Georgia (State statutes)  

Offeror - Respondent to this Request for Proposals  

RFP - Request for Proposals 

SMMA - Stone Mountain Memorial Association  
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BACKGROUND 

2.1 Overview 

In 1997, the SMMA solicited proposals to determine the interest of the private sector in 
leasing/contracting selected present and future amenities and activities at Stone Mountain Park.  As a 
result of this proposal solicitation, the SMMA entered in a long-term lease with Silver Dollar City Stone 
Mountain Park, Inc.  A complete copy of this lease and all subsequent amendments is included as 
Appendix A to this Request for Proposals.  As noted therein, the initial thirty (30)-year lease term 
commenced on January 3, 1998.  Per the lease, Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, Inc. (SDCSMP) 
exercised their option to vacate the lease no later than August 1st, 2022.  As such, this Request for 
Proposals is the initial effort on the part of SMMA to secure a replacement tenant/operator.    

2.2 History 

The Stone Mountain Memorial Association was formed in 1958 as an Act of the Georgia Legislature to 
purchase Stone Mountain and the surrounding land for a park to serve as a memorial to Southern history 
and a place of recreation for Georgia’ s citizens and visitors.  

The SMMA, is the State authority that is responsible for Georgia’s Stone Mountain Park. SMMA has nine 
board members appointed by the Governor for four-year terms (except for the Commissioner of the 
Department of Natural Resources who serves if he/she holds the position of Commissioner) or his/her 
designee. SMMA holds title to all the Park’s land and determines overall policies and practices. An 
appointed Chief Executive Officer oversees the day-to-day operations of the Park.  

As noted previously, the SMMA, in January 1998, entered a long-term public/private partnership with a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Herschend Family Entertainment Corporation (HFEC) – Silver Dollar City/Stone 
Mountain Park (SDCSMP).  SDCSMP is a private business enterprise with an established track record in 
operating entertainment and recreation venues.  SDCSMP manages all commercial operations in the Park 
– lodging, attractions, retail food, merchandise, and special events.  SDCSMP has contracted with 
Marriott International to manage the Evergreen Conference Center and the Stone Mountain Inn. Per the 
terms of the agreement with SDCSMP, SMMA continues to supervise the lease with SDCSMP and retains 
the right to review and approve any proposed new development to insure compatibility and consistency 
with the Park’s goals and Master Plan. SMMA also provides public safety, public works, historical and 
environmental education services within the Park and maintains the Natural District. 

SMMA’s mission is to sustain, enhance, and protect Stone Mountain Park, its facilities, and environs, by 
striving for excellence through an enriching experience that addresses the area’s historical, natural, 
cultural, and recreational resources for all our guests. 

The Chairman of the SMMA, in late 2020, issued a directive to Bill Stephens, the CEO of the Stone 
Mountain Memorial Association, to lead the effort to review the various proposals, meet with state and 
community leaders, consulting with experts and historians and other parties regarding the development 
of a 21st century new vision for Stone Mountain Park.  

Insights to some of the ideas that have been proffered for consideration by the Stone Mountain Action 
Coalition may be found in Appendix B to this Request for Proposals. 

NOTE: During the SMMA Board meeting on May 24, 2021, four resolutions were adopted to begin 
implementing the 21st century new vision for SMP.  See Appendix C to this RFP to review these 
resolutions. 
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It is expected that the successful bidder on this Request for Proposals will play a key role in the 
development and implementation of the repositioning strategy for the Park. 

2.3 Facilities at Stone Mountain Park 

Georgia’s Stone Mountain Park is located 16 miles east of downtown Atlanta. The Park is comprised of 
approximately 3,400 acres of woodlands and features as its centerpiece, Stone Mountain, one of the 
world’s largest exposed granite monadnock. Within the Park’s boundaries there are also several lakes 
that cover a total of approximately 362 acres – Stone Mountain Lake is the largest at 323 acres. Often 
considered to be the State’s greatest natural tourist attraction, several million people visit Stone 
Mountain Park every year, making it one of the highest attendance attractions in the United States. 

In its role as a memorial, a large sculpture commemorating the Confederacy has been carved on the north 
face of the mountain overlooking a broad memorial lawn and adjacent museum in the center of the Park. 
Visitors can also tour a collection of antebellum period structures that have been relocated to the site 
and assembled into an interpretive/educational display depicting a typical homestead of that era. In its 
recreational role, the Park includes a wide range of activities such as sports activities, lodging, golf, 
museums and educational exhibits, and a series of festivals and special events venues. Several rides and 
attractions including a full-size excursion train, and a cable car to the top of the Mountain are also 
provided. 

For a detailed inventory of the facilities, attractions, and events currently available at the Park, go to: 
https://www.stonemountainpark.com/activities 

The map on the following page provides additional insight to the Park and its facilities. 
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2.4 Statutory Planning and Protection Requirements 

2.4.1 Comprehensive Master Plan 

In August 2005, the SMMA adopted an updated comprehensive master plan (which served to amend the 
1992 Plan) to guide future decisions concerning any additional proposed development. Under this master 
plan, the Park is divided into four districts: Historic, Natural, Events and Recreation. The Master Plan 
Amendment Report is included as Appendix D to the Request for Proposals.  Additional information 
concerning the protections surrounding the Natural District are available upon request.   Adherence to 
the Master Plan is required by state law, O.C.G.A. § 12-3-194.2. 

2.4.2 Privatization and the Long-Range Development Plan 

As noted previously, the SMMA entered a long-term public/private partnership in 1998 with Silver Dollar 
City/Stone Mountain Park, Inc., a subsidiary of Herschend Family Entertainment Corporation a private 
business enterprise with an established track record in operating entertainment and recreation venues, 
to manage all commercial operations in the Park – lodging, attractions, retail food, merchandise, and 
special events.  Per the terms of that agreement, SMMA now supervises the lease with SDCSMP and 
retains the right to review and approve any proposed new development to insure compatibility and 
consistency with the Park’s goals. SMMA also provides public safety, public works, historical and 
environmental education services within the Park and maintains the Natural District. 

On September 18, 2000, SMMA approved the “Stone Mountain Park Long Range Plan” submitted by its 
Lessee. SMMA determined at that time that the SDCSMP plan was consistent with the 1992 Master Plan; 
however, some exceptions, guidance and comments were noted. That approved plan was made a part of 
the above-referenced 2005 Master Plan with a series of conditions (see Page 3-1 therein).  Interested 
parties are encouraged to review the 2005 Master Plan in its entirety. 

Particularly notable among the major investments by SDCSMP in the first five years of their lease included 
a $35 million addition in Park Center called “Crossroads”, a themed entertainment, shopping, and food 
service/dining attraction modeled after an old Southern town; and an 85-room expansion of the 
Evergreen Conference Center and Resort at a cost of $6 million.  Additional ballroom and meeting space 
capacity has also been constructed at Evergreen.  SMMA and the State of Georgia completed a $15 
million renovation of the guest rooms at Evergreen Conference Center in 2019 and is currently 
undertaking phase 2 of an $8.5 million renovation of the Stone Mountain Park Campground. 

2.5 Financial Information 

See "Financial Summary" in Appendix E to this Request for Proposals which contains audited financial 
statements of the current lessee for the years 2018-2020.  Select additional performance data is 
included as well. 
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REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 Objectives of the Request for Proposals 

The overall objectives of this Request for Proposals are as follows:     

i. To solicit proposals from private sector organizations to determine private sector interest 
in long-term lease or management agreement for selected present and future amenities 
and activities at Stone Mountain Park. 
 

ii. Consistent with protecting and preserving the unique resources at Stone Mountain Park, 
to provide the SMMA with sufficient revenues to: 

1. Provide appropriate management and oversight to the contractual  relationship 
resulting from this procurement; 

2. Operate its assigned functions; 

3. Maintain its assets in good repair; and 

4. Substantially satisfy Stone Mountain Park's capital requirements. 

3.2 Functions to be Continued by the SMMA 

Protection and preservation of the natural and cultural resources at Stone Mountain Park are of 
paramount importance. To assure appropriate stewardship of these resources, the SMMA will retain 
control over certain functions, and those functions will not be leased out or assigned for management by 
the selected Offeror. Specifically, these functions are as follows: 

i. Management of preservation and protection of the natural areas (including the area north 
of the Stone Mountain Freeway) except for the present and future amenities and activities  
described in Sections 3.3 and 3.4. These lands will be maintained in accordance with the 
master plan, as amended.  

ii. Management of preservation and protection of the Mountain.  

iii. Management and preservation of the Park as provided for in O.C.G.A. Section §12-3-191.  

iv. Responsibility for the roads, sidewalks, trails, dams, lakes, non-fee picnic areas, roadside 
maintenance throughout the Park, and litter control for all properties that are not a subject 
of this RFP. 

v. Responsibility for security/law enforcement, fire protection, EMS, and rescue services in 
the Park. 

vi. Programs for the protection of on-site endangered species and archeological areas. 

vii. To assure the general public's access to and use of the Park, the current conditions for 
entry, including hours of operation and parking fees, will remain unchanged, unless and 
until a modification thereto is approved by the SMMA, with the reasonable concurrence of 
the lessee/manager. There will be no charge for entry into the Park by persons on foot or 
on non-motorized vehicles. 
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viii. To assure the general public's access to and use of the sky lift, the conditions for entry, 
including hours of operation and fees, will remain unchanged, unless and until a 
modification thereto is approved by the SMMA, with the reasonable concurrence of the 
lessee. 

ix. Responsibility for continuously reviewing and enforcing the provisions of any lease or 
contract with the private sector awarded hereunder to manage and operate certain 
facilities and activities of the Park. 

3.3 Amenities and Activities to Be Considered 

Selected amenities and activities will be re-awarded on a long-term lease or management contract basis 
at SMMA's option, and other amenities and activities may be awarded and/or re-awarded on a 
management contract basis as a package to a single vendor or consortium of vendors. 

3.3.1 Long-Term Lease  

The following shall be leased for an initial term of 20 years with four 5-year renewal periods at the option 
of the lessee so long as the lessee is not in default of the lease. 

i The real property and all improvements thereon located within the areas designated as 
the "Recreation District," the "Historic District" and the "Events District" on the map on the 
following page (excluding the roads, lakes, dams, sidewalks/bike paths, trails, and non-
fee picnic areas, for which the SMMA will continue to be responsible), and 

ii The following amenities and activities within the areas designated as the "natural district" 
on said map: 

(A)   The train 
(B)   The Skylift 
 

The amenities and activities in the "Recreation District," the "Historic District" and the "Events District" 
include the following: 

• Crossroads Village Complex 
• Evergreen Lodge and Conference Center 
• Stone Mountain Inn 
• The campground 
• The rental picnic pavilions 
• The laser show 
• All special events 
• Miniature golf 
• Golf 
• Historic Square 
• All food service activities 
• All retail merchandise shops 
• All other concession activities 

NOTE: The maps contained herein are for reference purposes only and are not intended to, and do not 
constitute a representation as to the existence of or permissibility of any of the improvements shown 
thereon. 
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3.3.2 Management Contract 

The SMMA strongly desires entering a long-range lease comparable to that which currently exists with 
SDCSMP.  However, as an option for the SMMA's consideration, offerors who choose to  propose a 
management agreement to operate the amenities and activities of the Park as set forth in  Section 
3.3.1 on a fee-only basis.  Offerors should address, at a minimum, the following: 

• Base Management Fee
• Incentive Fee
• Initial Length of Term
• Renewal Options
• SMMA Options to Terminate
• Performance Tests
• Management Company Options to Terminate
• Basic Terms and Conditions the Proposer would be willing to operate under
• Other Factors the Proposer Deems Relevant

3.4 Additional Private Sector Development 

There are areas included in the leased property which are available for development that is in harmony 
with the Park's overall theme. In addition, there may be additional opportunities to enhance or improve 
existing facilities. Offerors shall prepare their proposals so that any such additional development can be 
accommodated under the current master plan for Stone Mountain Park. No changes to the master plan 
may be included in an offeror's proposal. 

Any future changes proposed to the existing master plan must be made in accordance with the 
statutory requirements (O.C.G.A. Section 12-3-194.2) governing that process. 

3.5 Standards of Performance 

The SMMA and SDCSMP have earned the reputation of running a high-quality operation that is very 
customer service oriented. To continue a comparable or better level of service, the lessee/manager will 
be expected to meet certain performance standards as follows: 

• Evergreen Conference Center and Resort lessee/manager to maintain or exceed AAA 3-
Diamond rating or the equivalent rating from any successor or comparable agency.

• Stone Mountain Inn – lessee/manager to recommend a positioning strategy given the current
design, positioning and markets available to the Inn.

• All Attractions and Retail Operations – lessee/manager is to present an operating plan for days
and hours of operation for each attraction and retail operation by December 1 for the following
year. Such plan is subject to reasonable amendment based on operating conditions. Subject to
force majeure and any such amendments to such plan, lessee is to achieve the plan's hours of
operation 95% of the time monthly and to provide monthly reports to the SMMA to demonstrate
this compliance.

• Railroad – lessee/manager to comply with all applicable regulations of the Federal Railroad
Administration.

• Food Service – lessee/manager to maintain a food service inspection rating of at least 90%
from the DeKalb County Health Department.
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• Golf Courses – lessee/manager will cause the Green Section of the Southeastern Region of the
United States Golf Association to review the condition of the golf courses on an annual basis and
report recommendations for their maintenance and improvement. Lessee/manager will provide
this report to SMMA along with a report on what recommendations will be implemented and
explanation for why any recommendations that are not to be implemented.

3.6 Other Requirements   

• The SMMA intends to retain all reserves maintained by Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park,
Inc.

• At the time of turnover to the successful offeror, the SMMA may turn over the Other Non-resale
Inventories (china, flatware, bedding, etc.) and proposes to handle other accounts as follows:

o Advanced Room and Other Deposits: SDCSMP will retain those funds that have been
earned as of the turnover date. SDCSMP will turn over to the successful offeror those
funds that have not been earned as of the turnover date.

o As of the date of turnover, the sum of Trade Accounts Receivable (less historical bad
debts) plus the cost of Resale Inventories (Including Food and Beverage, Soft Goods and
Logo Items) plus Prepayments by SDCSMP for Future Goods and Services will be reduced
by Trade Accounts Payable. The resulting differential if it is a positive number will be paid
to SDCSMP. The resulting differential if it is a negative number will be paid to the
successful offeror.

• Advertising/Media Deposits: SDCSMP has reserved advertising/media space for future dates. If
assignable, do you desire to acquire such advertising/media space?

• The SMMA retains the sole authority to approve or disapprove the following:
o Any specific development pursuant to the SMMA's master plan,
o Any financing that pledges or mortgages the lease (if applicable) or any assets or

properties covered by the lease, and
o Any future assignments (including change in control of the company) and subleases.

• In calculating "Gross Annual Revenue" for purposes of determining lease payments to , or
management fees from, the SMMA, the gross annual revenue of any sublessee shall be
included.

• The successful offeror will provide the SMMA with the following relative to the Park's operations:
o Unaudited financial statements monthly by the 20th of the following month,
o Annual audited statements within 60 days of the end of the lease/operating year, and
o Access to the successful offeror's records for the SMMA or its representatives to audit all

relevant data and information necessary to verify gross annual revenue, as reported.

The SMMA encourages the successful offeror to provide a reasonable opportunity for the existing 
SDCSMP employees to apply for employment. 

3.7 Insurance Requirements    

Under the Lease Scenario, Offeror shall provide insurance coverage as follows: 

• All buildings, other structures and improvements insured against loss or damage caused by fire,
lightning, windstorm, hurricane, tornado, cyclone, hail, explosion, riot, civil commotion, aircraft,
smoke, land vehicles, boiler explosion, collapse, vandalism, and sprinkler damage, and any
other risks customarily included under either fire and extended coverage or so-called at-risk
insurance policies, and loss of rents for up to twelve (12) months resulting from any insured



event, with responsible insurance companies, legally licensed and authorized to transact 
business in the State of Georgia. Such coverage is to be in the amount of the full insurable 
replacement value of said buildings, other structures, and improvements. 

• Under either the lease scenario or management agreement scenario, the successful awardee
will be responsible for:

o A policy of commercial general liability insurance with respect to premises, with a
combined single limit of liability of not less than $10 million, subject to commercially
reasonable deductible amounts, for bodily injury to or personal injury or death of any
person and consequential damages arising therefrom, and for property damage, arising
out of any one occurrence.

o An umbrella general liability policy with a limit of not less than $30 million, subject to
commercially reasonable deductible amounts.

3.8 Replacement Reserve for Fixed Assets 

The SMMA will require a minimum of 5% of Annual Gross Revenues to be placed in a replacement 
reserve and expended annually (unless the SMMA consents to the expenditure of a lesser amount each 
year with a carry-forward of any excess). Such reserve shall be for renovation and replacement of 
improvements, including furnishings, fixtures, and equipment. 

3.9 Financial Requirements 

Under the lease option, the SMMA will require a two-component rent structure: 1) a minimum annual 
fixed rent, and 2) an annual percentage rent.  Offeror should submit the amounts and terms for the 
following: 

1. Minimum annual fixed rent of $___ million (subject to annual adjustment based upon the
annual percentage increase, from time to time, in the Consumer Price Index, not to exceed
__%), payable monthly in advance on or before the first day of each month in equal monthly
installments.

2. Annual percentage rent, to be calculated by multiplying Gross Annual Revenues (defined
as all revenues generated by the operation of the amenities and activities
leased/contracted to the vendor at Stone Mountain Park) more than $__ million (adjusted
annually in accordance with the corresponding adjustments in the minimum annual fixed
rent) by an agreed upon percentage rate. Such annual percentage rent is payable on an
annual basis within 30 days after the end of each lease year. Offerors should indicate the
percentage rate they will be willing to pay on Gross Annual Revenues more than $__ million
as adjusted annually.

The SMMA will also require a commercially reasonable security deposit. 



3.10 Information to Be Submitted by Offeror 

3.10.1 Detailed Proposal Information 

Stone Mountain Park is a unique natural resource within the State and is highly visible because of its 
location within Metropolitan Atlanta. It is visited each year by millions of people. Because the SMMA has 
a significant interest in understanding how an offeror would intend to operate the facilities, each offeror 
MUST provide information on the following which will be evaluated and assigned points as described in 
the Proposal Submission and Evaluation Section of this RFP: 

Offeror Description and Background: 

• Describe your organization's current structure, its business background and the range of
services currently offered.

• How would the Stone Mountain Park amenities and activities fit within your portfolio of existing
business(es)?  If the offeror has a formal business plan and is willing to share it with the SMMA,
that would be helpful.

• Describe your organization's experience in operating and developing facilities in environmentally
sensitive areas.

• How large is your portfolio and what is your company's or principal's equity interest in each
operation? How has your company expanded (or contracted) over the past five years?

• With what operations, and with what entities, have you had, and do you currently have,
management relationships? Please provide the following for each:

o Name of operation and description of facilities and services offered.
o Date ownership and/or management began and date ownership and/or management

ended (or date management agreement terminates, if applicable).
o Name and address of owner and lender (if applicable); contact name and telephone

number.
• Provide a list of operations and/or management contracts lost during the past five (5) years and the

reason for each loss (if applicable).
• The SMMA expects a financially solvent entity acceptable to the SMMA to guarantee the lease.

Please give the SMMA a detailed explanation of your organization's ownership structure and
indicate which entity you anticipate providing the required guarantee. With respect to both the
guarantor and the successful offeror, what continuing affirmative covenants would you offer in the
following areas:

o Minimum net worth,
o Minimum working capital,
o Debt,
o Distributions, dividends, loans, and advances to the parent company,
o Related party fee arrangements, and
o Minimum insurance coverage.

• Revenue Generation and Marketing:
• What do you see as the appropriate market orientation of the Stone Mountain Park amenities and

activities being offered for lease to maximize their revenue potential (if different from that which
exists today)?

o How would a re-imaging/re-positioning of the Park fit into this strategy?
• What marketing services would you employ to create that orientation?
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• Discuss your company's or corporate personnel's familiarity and experience with operating projects
of this size.

• If you are proposing to manage the asset of the SMMA as identified in Section 3.3.1 herein, please
prepare a ten-year proforma for these operations (and incorporating your proposed management
fee terms and conditions as a part of your proposal submittal.

Management 

• From what office would you oversee the management of these facilities? What capabilities would
you have on-site at Stone Mountain Park?

• What would be your organization's management structure to manage these amenities and activities
at Stone Mountain Park?

• Describe your plan of transition, including any transition plan for dealing with current SDCSMP
employees and their related fringe benefits, in assuming responsibility for the amenities and
activities described in this RFP.

• Stone Mountain Park and SDCSMP have a reputation of providing exceptional service in its dealings
with its visitors. What steps would you take to ensure that visitors receive excellent service and that
any complaints are handled promptly and courteously? Describe the measurable standards that you
would recommend be included in regular reports to SMMA to assure SMMA that this is being
accomplished.

• It is important that the offeror's management and staff work in harmony with SMMA's Chief
Executive Officer and staff. Explain what specific steps you propose to achieve and maintain a good
working relationship with SMMA's managers and staff.

Proposed Approach 

• The existing assets at the Park are attractive and in good condition. Describe how your
organization proposes to maintain at a comparable or improved level the assets associated with
the amenities and activities being leased. Also, describe the measurable standards that you
would recommend be included in regular reports to SMMA to assure SMMA that assets
(including fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and other leased non-resale inventories) are being
properly maintained.

• If you are proposing a lease structure, how do you intend to finance your proposed capital
improvement plan?

• The SMMA is committed to serving the needs of the citizens of Georgia and tries to be a
responsible steward of the natural resources present in the Park. Recognizing that the priorities
of a private sector firm may be different, there is a critical need for the future lessee/manager
and the SMMA to work cooperatively at the Park for both parties to achieve their overall
missions. This has been successfully achieved with SDCSMP since 1998.  If awarded the
lease/management agreement, how would your firm propose to establish and maintain a
harmonious and mutually supportive relationship with the SMMA Board and its staff?
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3.10.2 General Information to Be Provided by Offeror 

• Name, address and telephone number of the individual(s), partnership(s) and/or company(ies)
submitting the proposal. Identify names of the principal(s) who will conduct negotiations with the
SMMA on this procurement.

• A description of the nature of the organization proposed to enter a lease/contract with the
SMMA. If the entity proposed is newly created, there must be assurances that its actions and
agreements can be fully supported.

• Identification of any employees, partners, company officials, legal counsel or major stockholders
who are state employees or State or local elected officials.

• Information on the nature of any work performed by the offeror or any component of the
offeror's team (if appropriate) for the State, its agencies, or public authorities, including the
contact person at the State with whom the offeror interacted.

• If applicable, a list showing the exact case, the number and court of all lawsuits, and a general
description of all arbitrations to which the offeror, and/or a member of the offeror's team, has
been party for the last 10 years. State whether each proceeding is pending or resolved, along
with any amounts paid. Describe all settlements and all judgements of liability.

• Detailed information on any sub-lease, subcontractor, or other organization the offeror may
utilize in the day-to-day operation of any portion of the leased and/or managed property and not
conflict with Section 5.5 below.
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PROPOSAL SUBMISSION AND EVALUATIONS 

4.1 Economy of Presentation 

Each proposal shall be prepared simply and economically, providing straight forward, concise delineation 
of offeror’s capabilities to satisfy the requirements of this RFP.  Fancy bindings, colored displays, and 
promotional material are not desired.  Emphasis in each proposal must be on completeness and clarity 
of content.  To expedite the evaluation of proposals, it is essential that offerors follow the format and 
instructions contained herein. 

4.2 Required Organization of Offeror Proposals 

An offeror’s proposal in response to this RFP must include two components – a technical component and 
a financial component.  The content of the proposal must be organized as follows:  

i. Table of Contents
ii. Administrative Requirements:

a. Signed Proposal Letter
iii. General Information
iv. Offeror Description and Background
v. Revenue Generation and Marketing
vi. Management
vii. Proposed Approach
viii. Financial Proposal
ix. Appendices:

a. Any Exceptions to the Form of Lease attached as Appendix A
b. Other Supporting Materials

4.3 Submission of Proposals 

Proposals must be submitted at the location specified no later than the date and time specified in Section 
1.3.  The proposal packages must be identified as follows: 

Proposals for Stone Mountain Park 

An original, twelve (12) printed copies, and one electronic copy on a flash drive of the proposal are 
required.  The Proposal Letter, included as page two of this package, must be included, and must be 
signed by a person authorized to legally bind the company.  FAILURE TO INCLUDE THIS SIGNED PROPOSAL 
LETTER WILL RESULT IN. THE REJECTION OF YOUR RESPONSE. 

4.4 Evaluation Criteria and Process 

4.4.1 Initial Review of Proposals 

All proposals received will be reviewed by the Issuing Officers to ensure that all administrative 
requirements of the RFP package have been met by the offerors.  Each proposal will be reviewed to ensure 
that all documents requiring a signature have been signed.  Failure to meet these requirements will be 
cause for rejection of a proposal.  All proposals that meet the administrative requirements will then be 
turned over to the evaluation team members for further evaluation. 
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4.4.2 Evaluation Team 

The evaluation team, consisting of representatives from the Stone Mountain Memorial Association and 
other state agencies as appropriate and selected private sector organizations, will review all proposals 
received and determine a ranking. 

4.4.3 Remaining Evaluation Process 

For all proposals that pass SMMA’s administrative review, the process of evaluation and selection will be 
conducted in the following two (2) phases: 

Phase 1 

The evaluation team will screen each proposal for completeness to ensure that all mandatory 
requirements are addressed satisfactorily.  All proposals that satisfy these requirements will be 
evaluated in Phase 2. 

Phase 2 

In this Phase, the evaluation team will evaluate the quality and completeness of each proposal as 
it addresses each requirement of the RFP.  A maximum of 1,000 points may be awarded to each 
proposal; 800 points for the technical component and 200 points for the financial component. 

Technical Component:  The technical component of proposals will be evaluated and scored in four 
(4) categories.  Each category is assigned a maximum point value.  Only proposals that receive
600 points (75%) or more will be considered further.

For these proposals that receive 600 or more points, their scores will be adjusted to maintain the 
balance between the technical and financial components.  The proposal with the highest technical 
score will be adjusted up to 800 points.  All other proposals with 600 or more points will receive 
a prorated technical score calculated using the following formula: 

P/Hx600 = V 

Where: P = Technical score of the proposal being adjusted 

H = Original technical score of the highest-ranking proposal 

V = Assigned points for proposal being adjusted 

A. Offeror’s Description and Background

Offeror will be evaluated on, but not limited to, the following types of information presented in
the technical proposal:

• The offeror’s history of successful operation of mixed-use recreation facilities including
hotel and conference center operating experience and mixed-use development
experience.

• The offeror’s experience in operating  and developing facilities in environmental sensitive
areas.
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• The offeror’s experience in working with governmental agencies or other private
companies jointly on projects.

Maximum number of points is 200.

B. Revenue Generation and Marketing

Offerors will be evaluated on, but not limited to, the following types of information presented
in the technical proposal.

• Quality of marketing strategy.
• Offeror’s experience in marketing operations of a similar nature and size.
• Degree of compatibility of marketing strategy with Park’s overall theme and resources.
• Conceptual thinking relating to re-imaging/re-positioning of the Park.

Maximum number of points is 150

C. Management

Offerors will be evaluated on, but not limited to, the following types of information presented
in the technical proposal:

• Appropriateness of proposed organizational structure to the facilities being offered for
lease/management.

• Quality of proposed plan of transition.
• Quality of proposed approach to providing continued good service to Park visitors and to

receiving and handling complaints.
• Approach to establishing and maintaining an effective and cooperative working

relationship with SMMA Board of Directors, management, and staff.

Maximum number of points is 200

D. Proposed Approach

Offerors will be evaluated on, but not limited to, the following types of information presented
in the technical proposal:

• The quality and comprehensive of the offeror’s plans for managing and developing those
areas leased/managed.

• The degree to which the offeror’s proposal is compatible with, complements and enhances
Stone Mountain Park’s current efforts in repositioning the Park.

• The extent to which the offeror’s proposal displays sensitivity to protecting and preserving
the Park’s natural and historical resources.

• The quality of the offeror’s plans to work cooperatively with the SMMA’s on-site staff to
jointly provide visitors with a positive experience.

Maximum number of points is 250
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Financial Component:  The financial component of each proposal will be evaluated with a maximum of 
200 points awarded to the proposal with the largest financial return over the term of the lease.  All other 
proposals deemed to be acceptable will receive a prorated score calculated using the following formula: 

R/L x 200 = Z 

Where: R = Net present value of the proposal being ranked. 

L = Net present value of the proposal with the largest financial return. 

Z = Assigned points. 

The offerors with the highest ranked proposals may be called in to make an oral presentation to the 
evaluation team and to answer questions. 

Once the evaluation scores for the technical component and financial component of each proposal have 
been combined and the associated documentation finalized, the apparent successful offeror will be 
identified. 

4.5 Final Evaluation and Interview 

The apparent successful offeror will then be required to submit the following financial statements and 
other associated documents to a CPA firm designated by the SMMA to make an independent review of 
such records for purposes of final evaluation: 

• Audit finalized statements (10K and 10Q, if any) for the offeror and each of its predecessor and
affiliated entities for the previous five (5) years, or for each of the years in operation, if fewer than
five years;

• Organizational structure of the offeror, including legal structure and level of ownership held by
each shareholder or partner more than 5%;

• Analysis of financial performance of the offeror on similar projects;
• Bank balances and lines of credit (outstanding and available balances);
• Financial covenants and maturities of long-term liabilities;
• Description of any prior or current bankruptcy proceedings involving the offeror, its predecessors,

its affiliates, or its principals;
• Description of any prior or current SEC or other securities investigations involving the offeror, its

predecessors, its affiliates, or its principals, including any prior convictions arising from any such
investigations;

• Description of any prior or current criminal or regulatory investigations involving the offeror, its
predecessors, its affiliates, or its principals; and

• The plan of financing the offeror intends to employ for this project, as applicable.

The apparent successful offeror will be required, when requested by the SMMA, to meet with SMMA and 
other State policy-level officials.  The purpose of this oral interview will be to: 

• Verify the offeror’s understanding of the terms of the RFP; and
• Verify offeror’s ability to finance the project as purposed (as applicable).

Based upon the evaluation of the financial information and upon the interview, if it is determined that the 
apparent successful offeror has demonstrated its ability to finance and/or to operate the facilities 
contemplated herein and as proposed in such offeror’s proposal, then the SMMA may enter contract 
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negotiations with the apparent successful offeror as provided for in Section 5.4.  If it is determined that 
the offeror has failed to so demonstrate its ability, then at the discretion of the SMMA such offeror’s 
proposal may be rejected and the SMMA may either consider the offeror with the next highest ranked 
proposal via the same final evaluation and interview process or elect to reject all proposals. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

5.1 RFP Amendments 

The SMMA reserves the right to amend the RFP prior to the date of proposal submission. Amendments 
will be sent to all offerors who originally received a copy of the RFP. 

5.2 Proposal Withdrawal 

Prior to the proposal due date, a submitted proposal may be withdrawn by the offeror by submitting a 
written request to the Issuing Officers named herein. All such requests must be signed by a person 
authorized to sign for the offeror. 

5.3 Cost for Preparing Proposals 

The cost for developing the proposal is the sole responsibility of the offeror. The SMMA will not provide 
reimbursement for such costs. 

5.4 Lease 

The form of the lease which the SMMA intends to use with the successful offeror follows that which 
currently exists with SDCSMP which is attached to this RFP and identified as Appendix A. Prospective 
offerors are urged to carefully read this document prior to making their offers. No signature is required. 

Any exceptions to the lease must be clearly identified and accompany the offeror's proposal. 

The SMMA reserves the right to add provisions consistent with the successful offeror's offer and to 
negotiate with the successful offeror other additions to, deletions from, and/or changes in the language 
in the lease, provided that no such addition, deletion or change in lease language would, in the sole 
discretion of the SMMA affect the evaluation criteria set forth herein. 

Prior to award, the apparent successful offeror will be required to enter discussions with the SMMA to 
resolve any contractual differences before an award is made. These discussions are to be finalized and 
all exceptions resolved within one (1) week of notification; if not, this could lead to rejection of the offeror's 
proposal and discussions initiated with the second most highly rated offeror. 

Offeror will not retype the lease enclosed herewith as alterations will be difficult to detect. 

PLEASE NOTE: If the offeror intends to propose to enter into a management agreement with the SMMA, 
please submit a standard form management agreement that would propose to operator under, as 
available.    

5.5 Single Vendor Responsibility 

Should a vendor partner with one or more other vendors in submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, 
the proposal must designate one vendor as lead contractor with whom the SMMA will negotiate. No award 
will be made unless the proposal includes single vendor responsibility. 

5.6 Conflict of Interest 

If an offeror has any existing client relationship(s) that involve the State of Georgia that would prevent 
their being objective, the offeror must disclose such relationship(s). 
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5.7 Disclaimer 

Information contained in any exhibit, table, or appendix of this Request for Proposals is provided for 
information purposes only and is not warranted as accurate by the SMMA. Each offeror making a proposal 
should exercise its own due diligence to ascertain the information on which it chooses to base its 
proposal. 

5.8 Policy on Drug-Free Workplace 

The final award of a contract is contingent upon the contractor certifying to the State that a drug-free 
workplace will be provided for the Contractor's employees during the performance of the contract as 
required by the "Drug-Free Workplace Act" (O.C.G.A. 50-24-1). 
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LEASE BETWEEN 

STONE MOUNTAIN MEMORIAL ASSOCIATION 

Lessor 

 

And 

 

SILVER DOLLAR CITY 

STONE MOUNTAIN PARK, INC. 

Lessee 

 

Including:  AMENDMENTS 1 – 9 
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NINTH AMENDMENT TO  

AGREEMENT OF LEASE 
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AND 

 

SILVER DOLLAR CITY 
STONE MOUNTAIN PARK, INC. 

 

DATED AS OF JANUARY 3, 1998 
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THIS NINTH AMENDMENT (“NINTH AMENDMENT”) to that certain January 3, 1998, 
Agreement of Lease between the Stone Mountain Memorial Association and Silver Dollar City 
Stone Mountain Park, Inc. (“Lease”), is made and entered into as of the ___ day of December, 
2015, by and between STONE MOUNTAIN MEMORIAL ASSOCIATION, a body corporate 
and politic created and existing under the laws of the State of Georgia, as lessor (“Lessor”) and 
SILVER DOLLAR CITY STONE MOUNTAIN PARK, INC., a Georgia corporation, as lessee 
(“Lessee”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Lessor is the owner of certain property in DeKalb and Gwinnett Counties of 
Georgia, which property is commonly known as “Stone Mountain Park;” and 

 WHEREAS, as of January 3, 1998, Lessor leased approximately one-third (1/3) of the area 
of Stone Mountain Park to the Lessee after determining that such lease was an appropriate means 
to achieve the objectives of the Lessor with respect to Stone Mountain Park; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Lease, Lessor and Lessee also entered into that certain 
Lease Closing Memorandum dated as of December 15, 1997 (“Memorandum”) to address, 
among other things, the relative rights of the Lessor and Lessee with respect to the Ancillary 
Assets (as defined in the Memorandum); and  

 WHEREAS, after seventeen years of working together for the benefit of the visitors to 
Stone Mountain Park, Lessor and Lessee have jointly determined that it is in the best interest of 
both parties to amend certain provisions of the Lease and the Memorandum to, among other 
things, make clearer certain responsibilities of each of the parties under the Lease and the 
Memorandum, and to set forth certain future enhancements to Stone Mountain Park. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises recited above, the covenants 
and agreements hereinafter set forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Lessor and Lessee do hereby covenant and agree 
as follows: 

1. Paragraph 1.11 of the Lease, as last amended by the Fifth Amendment, is further 
amended by adding a new subparagraph (c) thereto so that, as amended, Paragraph 1.11 shall 
read as follows:  

 1.11 (a) Annual Basic Rent Rate: Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 
Dollars ($9,500,000) per annum ($791,666.67 per month) during the Term, subject to adjustment 
as set forth in Paragraph 4 hereof, until the 1st day of August, 2003. 

(b) Beginning the 1st day of August, 2003, regardless of adjustments previously 
made as set forth in Paragraph 4 hereof, the Annual Basic Rent Rate shall be Seven 
Million Eight Hundred Twenty Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Twenty and No/100 
Dollars ($7,828,820) per annum ($652,402 per month) plus any adjustments as set forth 
in Paragraph 4 hereof. 
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(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated herein, the year 2015 Annual 
Basic Rent Rate is Nine Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand and No/100 Dollars 
($9,720,000) per annum ($810,000 per month), subject to adjustment as set forth in 
Paragraph 4 hereof, and the Annual Basic Rent Rate for the calendar years 2016 through 
and including 2020, shall remain at the same 2015 Annual Basic Rent Rate amount as 
noted immediately above, subject to adjustment as set forth in Paragraph 4 hereof.   

2. Paragraph 4.2 of the Lease is amended by inserting the sentence “Provided further, other 
provisions to the contrary notwithstanding, for the calendar years 2016 through and including 
2020, the adjustment to the Annual Basic Rent Rate by the amount of the increase in the “CPI-
U” and the Lessee’s obligation to pay Percentage Rent, pursuant to Paragraph 4.1(b) of the 
Lease, shall be waived but shall continue thereafter in accordance with the terms of the Lease.” 
prior to the last sentence of the first paragraph of Paragraph 4.2, and by inserting the following 
sentence “Additionally, calculation of the Annual Basic Rent Rate for Lease Years beginning in 
2021 and for each remaining Lease Year thereafter shall be the Annual Basic Rent Rate 
applicable to the immediately preceding Lease Year, being Nine Million Seven Hundred Twenty 
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($9,720,000), increased by an amount equal to the product of the 
percentage increase in the “CPI-U” for the month preceding the applicable Adjustment Date as 
compared to the “CPI-U” for the month prior to the Adjustment Date for the immediately 
preceding Lease Year Adjustment Date.” to the end of the first paragraph of Paragraph 4.2 so 
that, as amended, Paragraph 4.2 (first paragraph) shall read as follows: 

 4.2 On the first day of the second full Lease Year (as defined in Paragraph 
1(a) of Exhibit “D”) and then on the first day of each successive Lease Year thereafter 
(each of such dates being herein referred to as an “Adjustment Date”), the Annual Basic 
Rent Rate shall be increased to an amount equal to the Annual Basic Rent Rate applicable 
to the first full Lease Year (and any initial Partial Lease Year) of the Term set forth in 
Paragraph 1.11 hereof, plus an amount equal to the product of the percentage increase in 
the “CPI-U” (as hereinafter defined) for the month preceding the applicable Adjustment 
Date as compared to the “CPI-U” for the month during which this Lease is fully executed 
by Lessor and Lessee, multiplied by the Annual Basic Rent Rate applicable to the first 
full Lease Year of the Term as set forth in Paragraph 1.11 hereof. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, in no event shall the Annual Basic Rent Rate for any Lease Year be increased 
by more than four percent (4%) of the Annual Basic Rent Rate for the prior Lease Year.  
However, other provisions to the contrary notwithstanding, the adjustment to the Annual 
Basic Rent Rate by the amount of the increase in the “CPI-U” shall be waived for the 
calendar years 2009 and 2010 and the maximum percentage increase in 2011 shall be two 
percent (2%). Provided further, other provisions to the contrary notwithstanding, for the 
calendar years 2016 through and including 2020, the adjustment to the Annual Basic Rent 
Rate by the amount of the increase in the “CPI-U” and the Lessee’s obligation to pay 
Percentage Rent, pursuant to Paragraph 4.1(b) of the Lease, shall be waived but shall 
continue thereafter in accordance with the terms of the Lease. It is the intent of the parties 
that in any year that the application of the “CPI-U” is waived or limited, that same waiver 
or limitation shall be effective for all other provisions of the Lease requiring the 
application of the “CPI-U”.  Additionally, calculation of the Annual Basic Rent Rate for 
Lease Years beginning in 2021 and for each remaining Lease Year thereafter shall be the 
Annual Basic Rent Rate applicable to the immediately preceding Lease Year, being Nine 
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Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($9,720,000), increased 
by an amount equal to the product of the percentage increase in the “CPI-U” for the 
month preceding the applicable Adjustment Date as compared to the “CPI-U” for the 
month prior to the Adjustment Date for the immediately preceding Lease Year 
Adjustment Date. 

3. In accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 7.1 of the Lease and pursuant to Lessee’s 
request, Lessor hereby approves the following: (a) effective upon the date of execution of this 
Ninth Amendment, Lessee’s increase of the sky ride fee from the current round trip fee of Ten 
and No/100 Dollars ($10) to a fee of Twelve and No/100 Dollars ($12), and from the current 
one-way trip fee of Six and No/100 Dollars ($6) to a fee of Eight and No/100 Dollars ($8), and 
(b) effective as of January 1, 2018, Lessee’s increase of the motorized vehicle parking fee for 
entry into Stone Mountain Park from the current fee of Fifteen and No/100 Dollars ($15) to a fee 
of Eighteen and No/100 Dollars ($18).  
 
4. Paragraph 9.2 of the Lease is amended by inserting the sentence “Notwithstanding the 
forgoing, Lessee’s Reserve Deposit requirement for the years 2016 through 2020 shall be 
reduced by Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00) per year.” prior to the third sentence 
of the paragraph so that, as amended, Paragraph 9.2 shall read as follows: 
 

9.2  Lessee will, at its sole cost and expense, establish and maintain a segregated, interest 
bearing capital expenditure reserve account (the "Reserve Account").  Commencing with 
the first payment of Rent due under this Lease and simultaneously with the making of 
such payment and on the date of each Rent payment due thereafter, Lessee shall pay into 
the Reserve Account an amount equal to five percent (5%) of Lessee's Gross Revenue (as 
defined in Exhibit "D" hereto) for the preceding month (each a "Reserve Deposit" and 
collectively the "Reserve Deposits"), which will be held in the Reserve Account to be 
used as a reserve for repairs, renovation and replacement of improvements, including 
fixtures, furnishings and equipment, at the Premises; provided that except for the capital 
expenditures described in Exhibit "J", and the additional capital improvements to be 
made by Lessee within the first twenty-seven months of the Term in accordance with 
Paragraph 8.1, any amount Lessee has expended (subject to Lessor's approval as and to 
the extent required under Paragraph 8 and subject to the limitations on non-capital repairs 
and renovations set forth hereinbelow) for repairs, renovation and replacement of 
improvements, including fixtures, furnishings and equipment, at the Premises, other than 
amounts previously credited against a Reserve Deposit or expended from the Reserve 
Account, may be credited against the Reserve Deposits required to be made from 
Lessee's Gross Revenue for that calendar year.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, Lessee’s 
Reserve Deposit requirement for the years 2016 through 2020 shall be reduced by Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00) per year. All interest earned on the Reserve 
Deposits will be added to and become a part of the Reserve Deposits. Lessee may make 
withdrawals from the Reserve Account, with Lessor's prior written approval, in order to 
make such expenditures with respect to the Premises from time to time in accordance 
with the terms of this Paragraph 9.2 and such procedures as Lessor and Lessee may 
reasonably establish; provided, however, that, unless Lessor agrees otherwise in writing 
in connection with a five or ten year plan for hotel or motel renovation or otherwise, 
during each calendar year of the Term Lessee shall expend a minimum of four percent 
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(4%) of Lessee's annual Gross Revenue during the preceding calendar year for capital 
repairs, renovations and replacement of improvements, including furniture, fixtures and 
equipment, and up to one percent (1%) of such Gross Revenue may be used for non-
capital repairs and renovations of improvements, including furniture, fixtures and 
equipment, provided that the cost of each single item of such non-capital repairs and 
renovations shall not be less than $50,000.00 in each instance, and provided further that, 
unless Lessor agrees otherwise in writing in connection with a five or ten year plan for 
hotel or motel renovation or otherwise, a total of five percent (5%) of Lessee's annual 
Gross Revenue during the preceding calendar year shall be so expended, except as 
hereinbelow provided. Within sixty (60) days from the commencement of each calendar 
year during the Term of this Lease, Lessee shall submit to Lessor for its review and 
approval (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned) a 
budget for expenditures of the Reserve Deposits equal to five percent (5%) of Lessee's 
annual Gross Revenue for the preceding calendar year. Any portions of any such annual 
budget which, with Lessor's consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed 
or conditioned, are not expended in the current calendar year shall be retained in the 
Reserve Account until expended in accordance with a subsequent budget approved by 
Lessor. Lessor shall not unreasonably withhold, delay or condition its approval of 
Lessee's five or ten year plans for hotel or motel renovations, as the same may be revised 
by Lessee from year to year and reasonably approved by Lessor. Lessor shall permit 
accumulation of reserves relative to such hotels or motels pursuant to any such five or ten 
year plans so approved by Lessor. Lessor or its designee shall be a required signatory for 
any and all withdrawals from the Reserve Account in excess of Two Thousand Five 
Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00); (increased annually by the percentage increase in the CPI-
U in the same way as the Annual Basic Rent Rate); provided that Lessee shall deliver to 
Lessor an accounting of all withdrawals from the Reserve Account, which Lessor or its 
designee did not co-sign, on a monthly basis and not later than the 20th day of the each 
following month. Any balance remaining in the Reserve Account at the expiration or 
other termination of this Lease shall be paid to Lessor on account of Lessor's assumption 
of responsibility for deferred capital expenditure requirements; provided that Lessor shall 
thereafter apply any such amount to the cost of future capital repairs, renovations and 
replacements at Stone Mountain Park. 

5. Pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 7.6 and Schedule 1 of the Lease, Lessor shall use 
best efforts to obtain appropriations in the 2016, 2017 and 2018 fiscal year budgets from the 
State of Georgia, subject to restraints imposed by Georgia law with respect to binding successors 
in office, to repair and pave, to the extent said repairs and paving are deemed needed by Lessor 
in its reasonable discretion, the campground roads and campground sites within Stone Mountain 
Park, provided that the cost of such work shall in no event exceed Three Million and No/100 
Dollars ($3,000,000). It shall not be Lessor’s default under the Lease if Lessor, having used its 
best efforts, is unable to obtain said funding. 
 
6. Paragraph 9.4 of the Lease is amended by deleting the first sentence of Paragraph 9.4 in 
its entirety and replacing it with “Lessor will fund Resort FF&E Reserves but shall not be 
responsible for funding any amount greater than the total of the Resort FF&E Reserves, except as 
in accordance with Section 9.6 of the Lease.” and by deleting the last sentence of Paragraph 9.4 
in its entirety and replacing it with “This paragraph shall be effective until December 31, 2020, 
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and applicable to calendar years 2015 through 2020, and shall not extend past December 31, 
2020 without the written consent of both parties.” so that, as amended, Paragraph 9.4 shall read 
as follows: 
 

9.4 Lessor will fund the Resort FF&E Reserves but shall not be responsible 
for funding any amount greater than the total of the Resort FF&E Reserves, except as in 
accordance with Section 9.6 of the Lease. Any funding of “Additional Reserve 
Payments” by the Lessor shall be at the sole discretion of the Lessor.  This paragraph 
shall be effective until December 31, 2020, and applicable to calendar years 2015 through 
2020, and shall not extend past December 31, 2020 without the written consent of both 
parties. 

 
7. Paragraph 9.5 of the Lease is amended by deleting the language of Paragraph 9.5 in its 
entirety and replacing such language with the phrase “Intentionally Omitted.”  For clarification 
purposes, the terms set forth in Paragraph 9.5 of the Lease shall not be applicable to earnings 
from calendar year 2015 or future years. 
 
8. The following new paragraph 9.6 is added to the Lease: 
 

9.6 For the five (5) year period commencing with calendar year 2016 and 
ending  with calendar year 2020, Lessor shall use best efforts, subject only 
to its prior board approval, to contribute funds, not to exceed Five 
Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($500,000) annually, towards the 
maintenance and renovation of those certain improvements, including 
fixtures, furnishings and equipment at the Premises, which list of 
improvements shall be determined by mutual agreement between Lessor 
and Lessee and set forth in writing prior to each calendar year in which 
such expenditure will be made.   

 
9. Paragraph 35 of the Lease is amended:  
 

A. By replacing the phrase "after the 36th month of the Term” with the phrase “after 
January 3, 2021” in the first sentence of Paragraph 35.  

 
B. By deleting the language of Paragraph 35(a) in its entirety and replacing such 

language with “In order to exercise the Termination Option, Lessee shall provide Lessor with 
irrevocable written notice of Lessee’s exercise of the Termination Option, which notice may be 
given by Lessee on any date on or after January 3, 2019, but in no event later than twenty-four 
(24) months prior to the Early Termination Date.”  

 
C. By deleting the language of Paragraph 35(b) in its entirety and replacing such 

language with the phrase “Intentionally Omitted” so that, as amended, Paragraph 35 shall read as 
follows:  
 

35. Early Termination Option.  Provided that no Event of Default by Lessee 
has occurred and remains uncured, Lessee shall have the right to terminate 
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this Lease on the first day of any calendar month (the “Early Termination 
Date”) after January 3, 2021 (the “Termination Option”). The Termination 
Option may only be exercised in strict accordance with the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth: 

 
 (a) In order to exercise the Termination Option, Lessee shall provide 

Lessor with irrevocable written notice of Lessee’s exercise of the 
Termination Option, which notice may be given by Lessee on any date on 
or after January 3, 2019, but in no event later than twenty-four (24) 
months prior to the Early Termination Date. 

 
 (b) Intentionally Omitted. 
 

(c) All of the terms and provisions of this Lease shall continue in full 
force and effect, including without limitation, Lessee’s obligation to pay 
all Rent as it becomes due and payable hereunder, until the Early 
Termination Date. 

 
(d) Any improvements commenced by Lessee prior to the Early 
Termination Date shall be completed in accordance with Paragraph 8 prior 
to the Early Termination Date. 

 
10. The following new paragraph 37 is added to the Lease: 
 

37. Renovation of the Evergreen Conference Center and Resort and the Stone 
Mountain Inn. Notwithstanding the performance standards required of 
Lessee pursuant to Paragraph 7.7(a) and 7.7(b) of the Lease, Lessor shall 
use best efforts to seek appropriate funding, through government bonds or 
direct appropriations from the State of Georgia, subject to restraints 
imposed by Georgia law with respect to binding successors in office, for 
the renovation of the Evergreen Conference Center and Resort and the 
Stone Mountain Inn, in accordance with the specifications, cost caps, 
timeline, and other terms attached to the Ninth Amendment as Exhibit A. 
It shall not be Lessor’s default under the Lease if Lessor, having used its 
best efforts, is unable to obtain said funding.   

 
11. The following new paragraph 38 is added to the Lease: 
 

38. Stone Mountain Park Enhancements. In order to provide a broader and 
more complete historical perspective and thereby enhance the experience of the 
guests of Stone Mountain Park, Lessor will make available funds for a package of 
improvements to Stone Mountain Park as follows: 
 
1.  The parties will explore the construction of an Exhibit dedicated to the African 
American soldiers who served in the Civil War, in accordance with the 
specifications and cost caps in connection therewith, timeline, and other terms 
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attached to the Ninth Amendment as Exhibit B.  If the parties mutually agree to 
create the Exhibit, the cost of such Exhibit shall not exceed Three Hundred 
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($300,000.00). When constructed, said Exhibit 
shall not be a part of the Premises; and 

 
2.  An application for mobile devices that provides historical perspectives based 
on the user’s location within Stone Mountain Park, in accordance with the 
specifications and cost caps in connection therewith, timeline, and other terms 
attached to the Ninth Amendment as Exhibit C, including, without limitation, a 
cost cap of Sixty Thousand and No/100 ($60,000.00).   

 
12. The Memorandum is hereby amended by replacing Paragraph 2(d) thereof in the entirety 
so that, as amended, Paragraph 2(d) of the Memorandum shall read as follows:  
 

(d) Upon termination of the Lease for any reason, all of the assets and properties 
conveyed to SDC on the Effective Date and otherwise in connection with the 
Lease, including all Ancillary Assets and any and all replacements and repairs 
thereof (together with any and all improvements, fixtures, furnishings and 
equipment as may be funded from the Reserve Account (as defined in the Lease) 
and the Resort FF&E Reserves (as defined in the Lease)), shall revert to SMMA 
automatically and without further action and SDC shall take such actions 
necessary so that SMMA receives good and marketable title to such assets and 
properties, provided that any software licenses being used at the Stone Mountain 
Park by SDC’s assignee pursuant to a master license agreement with SDC shall be 
subject to SMMA entering into a license from the software licensee. From the 
time after such termination, on SMMA’s request, SDC will execute and deliver to 
SMMA such documents and take such other action as SMMA may reasonably 
request in order to consummate more effectively the reversion of assets and to 
vest in SMMA good and marketable title to such assets, and SDC hereby appoints 
SMMA as its attorney-in-fact, effective upon such termination, to execute any 
such further documents or instruments in order to transfer to SMMA title to such 
assets (such as motor vehicle titles), which power of attorney is irrevocable and 
coupled with an interest.      

 
13. Except as specifically amended herein and by the December 1999 First Amendment to 
the Agreement of Lease, the April 2001 Second Amendment to the Agreement of Lease, the 
August 2003 Third Amendment to the Agreement of Lease, the October 2003 Fourth 
Amendment to the Agreement of Lease, the November 2006 Fifth Amendment to the Agreement 
of Lease, the November 2008 Sixth Amendment to the Agreement of Lease, the October 2009 
Seventh Amendment to the Agreement of Lease, and the August 2011 Eighth Amendment to the 
Agreement of Lease, the January 3, 1998 Agreement of Lease between the Stone Mountain 
Memorial Association and Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, Inc., remains of full force 
and effect, unchanged by this Ninth Amendment. 
 
14. Either party to this Ninth Amendment is authorized to prepare and file in the real 
property records in the Offices of the Clerk of the Superior Courts of DeKalb and Gwinnett 
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Counties, Georgia, a Memorandum of Lease truly and accurately reflecting the terms of this 
Ninth Amendment and the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and the Eighth 
Amendments to the Agreement of Lease.  Should either party decide to file such a document, the 
other party agrees to cooperate in the preparation and execution of that memorandum.   
 
15. Either party hereto represents and warrants that no broker or other similar agent has acted 
on its behalf in connection with this Ninth Amendment.  
 

(SIGNATURES BEGIN ON NEXT PAGE) 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Lessor and Lessee have executed this Ninth Amendment as of 

the day, month, and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Edna Zimmerman 
Secretary 

Lessor: STONE MOUNTAIN 
 MEMORIAL ASSOCIATION 
 
 
 
 _____________________________ 
 Bill Stephens  
 Chief Executive Officer 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 

Lessee: SILVER DOLLAR CITY 
 STONE MOUNTAIN PARK, INC. 
  
 
 
 
 _____________________________ 
 Andrew Wexler 
 President/Chief Executive Officer 
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     Exhibit A 
 
Evergreen Conference Center and Resort and the Stone Mountain Inn Renovation Specifications  
     
 
The Evergreen Conference Center and Resort and the Stone Mountain Inn are scheduled for an 
upcoming renovation and scheduled asset replacement.  This work is necessitated by contractual 
obligations of Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, Inc. to Marriott pursuant to the Evergreen 
Conference Center and Resort and the Stone Mountain Inn management agreements. 

The project would have a 8 to 12 month timeline and will begin sometime in the calendar year 
2018.  The Stone Mountain Memorial Association will use best efforts to seek funding of up to 
Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($9,500,000). 

It is anticipated that the rooms of the hotels would be renovated, which would include updated 
flooring, lighting, bathroom fixtures, soft goods, furnishings, etc. Also included would be 
flooring and lighting common areas such as hallways. 

  

176



 

Exhibit B 
 

    Exhibit Construction Specifications 
       
Exhibit specifications will be developed jointly by the Stone Mountain Memorial Association 
and Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, Inc. 
 
The Exhibit will have a cost cap of Three Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($300,000). 
 
The targeted timeline for completion of the Exhibit will be December 31, 2016. 
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Exhibit C 

 
       Mobile Application Specifications  
 
The anticipated Historical App will be an App guests to the Park can upload to their mobile 
devices and listen to a short audio recording as they visit various historical attractions around the 
Park. 
 
These include such areas as the covered bridge, quarry exhibit, carillon, historical homes and 
Memorial Hall. 
 
Specifications will be jointly developed by the Stone Mountain Memorial Association and Silver 
Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, Inc. 
 
The targeted timeline of completion of the project will be December 31, 2016. 
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APPENDIX B 
Information Prepared by the Stone Mountain Coalition 

 
 

Stone Mountain Action Coalition 
 

Parties interested in the opportunity that is the subject of this Request for Proposals are 
encouraged to become familiar with a community-based organization formed with the 
name Stone Mountain Action Coalition (https://stonemountainaction.org). 
 
As described on their website, “the Stone Mountain Action Coalition (SMAC) is a 
movement dedicated to a more inclusive Stone Mountain Park centered on the principles 
of healing, transformation and progress. SMAC membership is comprised of a diverse 
coalition of concerned citizens, political leaders, community organizations, faith-based 
groups and businesses who are dedicated to supporting constructive solutions and ideas 
that reflect a new, shared vision for the Park.“ 
 
The SMAC further states that “While Stone Mountain Park has moved beyond its 
historical relationship with the Ku Klux Klan, it remains the world’s largest Confederate 
memorial. The Park’s prominent carving glorifies three Confederate leaders and was 
largely funded by the state of Georgia to promote an inaccurate re-writing of history that 
perpetuates racism and white supremacy.”  
 
Information provided by the SMAC at a Special Called Meeting of the Stone Mountain 
Memorial Association and the SMAC in September 2020 is provided on the following 
pages. 
 
Again, interested parties are encouraged to visit the SMAC website at  
https://stonemountainaction.org 
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Independent Auditor’s Report and Financial Statements 
January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
 

Board of Directors 
Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
Stone Mountain Park, Georgia 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
(the “Company”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Herschend Entertainment Company, LLC) which 
comprise the balance sheets as of January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, and the related statements of 
operations and changes in member’s deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes 
to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Board of Directors 
Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
Page 2 
 
 
 

  

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC as of January 3, 2021 and  
December 29, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 

 
 
Springfield, Missouri 
March 29, 2021 
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 

See Notes to Financial Statements 3 

Balance Sheets 

January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 

 

 
Assets

2020 2019
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  $        4,388,418  $        4,362,007 
Accounts receivable               183,399               386,057 
Inventories            1,493,738            1,720,662 
Prepaid expenses and other               929,857            1,586,696 

Total current assets            6,995,412            8,055,422 

Investments and Long-Term Receivables
Advance under management agreement                           -               763,329 

Property and Equipment, At Cost
Buildings and land improvements 41,217,350         41,477,373         
Attraction equipment 24,217,306         25,081,550         
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment          25,155,026          27,206,269 
Construction in progress                           -               213,488 

         90,589,682          93,978,680 
Less accumulated depreciation          90,589,682          79,665,849 

                          -          14,312,831 

Other Assets - At Amortized Cost
Lease acquisition costs, net of amortization                           -               137,564 

                          -               137,564 

Total assets  $        6,995,412  $      23,269,146 

Liabilities and Member's Deficit

Current Liabilities
Note payable - related party  $    155,600,000  $    148,650,000 
Accounts payable            3,275,498            2,389,791 
Due to related party            6,333,582               427,472 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes            1,400,897            2,044,728 
Deferred revenue            3,389,908            4,231,420 
Other accrued expenses            1,432,912            1,977,274 

Total current liabilities        171,432,797        159,720,685 

Long-Term Deferred Rent Payable            4,860,000                           - 

Member's Deficit       (169,297,385)       (136,451,539)

Total liabilities and member's deficit  $        6,995,412  $      23,269,146 
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 

See Notes to Financial Statements 4 

Statements of Operations and Changes in Member’s Deficit 

Years Ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 

 

 
2020 2019

Revenues
Merchandise and food sales 3,929,092$         10,602,220$       
Admissions 8,300,037           18,800,058         
Parking 8,070,425           10,312,814         
Resort income (loss) (2,658,839)         2,542,012           
Commissions and rental fees 2,933,319           4,467,394           
Other operating 1,098,930           2,282,130           

21,672,964         49,006,628         

Operating Expenses
Labor and related payroll costs 9,104,676           16,328,123         
Cost of products sold 1,429,016           3,326,610           
Depreciation and amortization 2,118,680           4,075,058           
Advertising 1,001,279           2,381,542           
General, administrative, and other 20,778,129         21,492,372         
Loss on impairment and disposal of assets 13,786,785         222,640              

48,218,565         47,826,345         

Income (Loss) From Operations (26,545,601)       1,180,283           

Other Expense
Net interest expense (6,300,245)         (7,422,886)         

Net Loss (32,845,846)       (6,242,603)         

Member's Deficit, Beginning of Year (136,451,539)     (130,208,936)     

Member's Deficit, End of Year  $   (169,297,385)  $   (136,451,539)
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 

See Notes to Financial Statements 5 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019  

 

 
2020 2019

Operating Activities
Net loss (32,845,846)$     (6,242,603)$       
Items not requiring cash

Depreciation and amortization 2,118,680           4,075,058           
Loss on impairment and disposal of assets 13,786,785         222,640              
Loss on impairment and advance under

management agreement 763,329              -                         
Changes in

Accounts receivable 202,658              234,975              
Inventories 226,924              91,244                
Prepaid expenses and other assets 656,839              (592,946)            
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and 

deferred rent payable 4,598,036           (524,219)            
Deferred revenue (841,512)            (43,188)              
Due to related parties 5,906,110           225,253              

Net cash used in operating activities (5,427,997)         (2,553,786)         

Investing Activities
Construction and purchase of property and equipment (1,495,692)         (1,996,028)         
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 100                     -                         

Net cash used in investing activities (1,495,592)         (1,996,028)         

Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowing from related party 7,250,000           7,800,000           
Principal payments on note payable to related party (300,000)            (4,000,000)         

Net cash provided by financing activities 6,950,000           3,800,000           

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,411                (749,814)            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 4,362,007           5,111,821           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 4,388,418$         4,362,007$         

Supplemental Cash Flows Information
Interest paid (net of amount capitalized)  $           385,082  $        7,429,397 
Accounts payable incurred for construction in progress  $                       -  $             40,522 
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
Notes to Financial Statements 

January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 

 

 

 6 

Note 1: Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of Operations 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Herschend Entertainment Company, LLC (HEC) to 
lease and operate a portion of Stone Mountain Park (the “Park”) located in DeKalb County, 
Georgia through a lease agreement with the Stone Mountain Memorial Association (SMMA).  Park 
operations consist primarily of a hotel, a conference center, golf facilities (see Note 3), recreation 
facilities, attractions, retail food and merchandise sales, and collection of parking fees.  The 
Company derives its revenues principally from admission charges and food and merchandise sales 
to individual customers.   

The term of the Company’s lease with SMMA, was scheduled to expire on January 3, 2028.  The 
lease contained an early termination option which was exercised by the Company in July 2020, 
accelerating the expiration date to August 2022. 

Fiscal Year 

The Company has a 52/53-week fiscal year ending on the Sunday closest to December 31.  Fiscal 
year 2020 was a 53-week year and 2019 was a 52-week year.   

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be 
cash equivalents.  At January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, cash equivalents consist of money 
market accounts which are not insured by the FDIC.  As of January 3, 2021, the Company had 
$312,000 invested in these money market accounts.  

At January 3, 2021, the Company’s cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits by 
approximately $2,800,000. 

Inventory Valuation 

Merchandise inventory is valued at the lower of cost (retail inventory method) or net realizable 
value.  All other inventories are valued at the lower of cost (average cost method) or net realizable 
value. 
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
Notes to Financial Statements 

January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 

 

 

 7 

Long-Lived Asset Impairment 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever 
events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  If a long-lived asset 
is tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to result 
from the use and eventual disposition of the asset is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the 
asset cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized as the amount by which the 
carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.  As a result of the Company’s decision 
in July 2020 to exit the lease with SMMA effective August 2022, the Company recognized 
$13,617,972 of impairment of long-lived assets for the year ended January 3, 2021 included in loss 
on impairment and disposal of assets in the statement of operations.  No asset impairment was 
recognized for the year ended December 29, 2019.  

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment acquisitions are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization, 
and accumulated impairment losses.  Depreciation and amortization is charged to expense on the 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each asset.  Assets under capital lease 
obligations and leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or their 
respective estimated useful lives.  The Company capitalizes interest costs on constructed assets 
based on the interest rates paid for long-term borrowing.   

Lease Acquisition Costs 

Lease acquisition costs of the lease with SMMA are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
initial 30-year lease term.  Amortization expense totaled $10,480 and the Company recorded 
$127,074 of impairment loss for the year ended January 3, 2021.  The Company recognized 
$17,030 of amortization expense for the year ended December 29, 2019.  

Revenue Recognition, Accounts Receivable, and Deferred Revenue 

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the 
Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration that it expects to be entitled to 
in exchange for those goods or services.  The amount and timing of revenue recognition varies 
based on the nature of the goods and services provided and the terms and conditions of the 
customer contract.  Many products, including season-long products, are sold to customers in 
advance, resulting in a contract liability (deferred revenue).   

The Company records deferred revenue at the time of sale of annual parking permits and annual 
attraction passes and on the receipt of other similar deposits.   
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
Notes to Financial Statements 

January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 

 

 

 8 

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount of consideration from customers of which the 
Company has an unconditional right to receive plus any accrued and unpaid interest.  The 
Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts to the extent warranted based upon a review 
of outstanding receivables, historical collection information, and existing economic conditions.  
Accounts receivable are ordinarily due 30 days after the issuance of the invoice.  Accounts that are 
unpaid after the due date bear interest at 1.5 percent per month.  Accounts past due more than 120 
days are considered delinquent.  Delinquent receivables are written off at the end of the operating 
season based on individual credit evaluation and specific circumstances of the customer.  During 
the years ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, impairment losses on doubtful accounts 
receivable, where collectability is not reasonably assured and the Company’s allowance for 
doubtful accounts was $0.   

Self-Insurance 

The Company has elected to self-insure certain costs related to employee health and accident 
benefit programs, employee work related injuries, and guest injuries.  Costs resulting from 
uninsured losses are charged to expense when incurred.  Herschend Family Entertainment 
Corporation (HFEC) has purchased insurance that limits the Company’s exposure on workers’ 
compensation claims to $750,000 per occurrence.  The Company’s exposure for general liability 
claims is $500,000 per occurrence.  The Company has purchased insurance that limits its exposure 
on health claims to $200,000 per calendar year for each covered employee and their covered 
dependents. 

Advertising 

The Company expenses external advertising production costs the first time the advertising takes 
place.  Internal advertising costs are expensed as incurred. 

Income Taxes 

The Company’s Member has elected for the Company’s taxable income or loss to be included in 
the Member’s federal and state income tax returns under provisions of the Internal Revenue Code 
and a similar section of the state income tax law.  Therefore, no provision for income taxes has 
been included in the accompanying financial statements.  

Subsequent Events 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 29, 2021, which is the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
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Silver Dollar City Stone Mountain Park, LLC 
Notes to Financial Statements 

January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019 
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Note 2: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Revenue is generated from (1) sales of admissions and parking at the Park, (2) food, merchandise, 
and games inside the Park, (3) the Company’s share of net resort operating income or loss from its 
operating agreement with Marriott Hotel Services, Inc. (Marriott), and (4) commissions and rental 
fee income from third parties. 

Revenue is recognized upon admission into the Park and when goods or services are delivered to 
the Company’s guests.  Revenues are presented net of sales tax collected from guests and remitted 
or payable to government or taxing authorities. 

Season passes, other multiuse admissions, and season-long products are recognized using an 
estimated redemption rate over a 52-week period, based on historical experience and other factors.  
Amounts received for multiuse or advance admissions in excess of redemptions are included in 
deferred revenue.  The Company reviews the estimated redemption rate on an ongoing basis 
throughout the year. 

Food, merchandise, games, resort revenue, and other items are recognized at the time the goods or 
services are provided to guest.   

The Company arranges with outside parties to provide goods and services to guests resulting in net 
revenue recognized as commissions in the statements of operations at the time the good or service 
is provided. 

Sponsorship revenues are classified as other operating are recognized over the Park operating 
season which represents the period in which the performance obligations are satisfied.   

Amounts received for multiuse or advance admission in excess of redemptions are included in 
deferred revenue.  The Company expects substantially all revenue deferred as of the balance sheet 
date to be recognized within twelve months.   

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by the timing of when 
recognized.  Most revenues are recognized at a point in time based on actual guest spending at the 
Park.  Revenues from multiuse products, including season-long products for admission and other 
products are recognized over a period of time.  Revenues recognized during the years ended 
January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, were as follows: 

2020 2019

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 15,763,895$  42,259,984$  
Over a period of time 5,909,069      6,746,644      

Total  $  21,672,964  $  49,006,628 

 

The nature, amount, and timing of revenues are variable based upon the seasonal nature of the 
Company’s business. 
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Accounting Policies and Practical Expedients Elected 

The Company is applying an accounting policy election, which allows an entity to exclude from 
revenue any amounts collected from customers on behalf of third parties, such as sales taxes and 
other similar taxes collected concurrent with revenue-producing activities.  Revenue is presented 
net of sales taxes and similar revenue based taxes. 

The Company has elected the following practical expedients for contracts of one year or less:  
(1) the Company has elected not to adjust the consideration for the effects of significant financing 
components; (2) the Company has elected the practical expedient to recognize the incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred. 

The following table provides information about the Company’s receivables and deferred revenue 
from contracts with customers: 

2020 2019

Accounts receivable, beginning of year 386,057$         616,032$         

Accounts receivable, end of year 183,399           386,057           

Deferred revenue, beginning of year 4,231,420        4,274,608        

Deferred revenue, end of year 3,389,908        4,321,420        

 

Note 3: Operating Leases and Management Agreements 

Management Agreement and Lease with SMMA 

The Company is party to an operating lease agreement with SMMA, a body originally created by 
the state of Georgia, to operate the revenue-producing operations of Stone Mountain Park.  The 
Company exercised the early termination option in July 2020. 

Annual base lease payments under the agreement for both 2020 and 2019 were $9,720,000.  The 
Company pays additional rent for the use of a ballroom facility in an amount determined by 
multiplying the construction cost by a variable rate based upon LIBOR less 0.5 percent ranging 
from 4 percent – 7 percent which totaled approximately $238,000 for each of the years ended 
January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019.  Total lease expense under this lease, including base rent 
and additional rent, was approximately $9,958,000 for each of the years ended January 3, 2021 and 
December 29, 2019, of which $4,860,000 was deferred in 2020 and will be payable August 1, 2022 
at the termination of the lease. 

During 2020, the lease was amended to specify that base rent will be reduced effective January 1, 
2021, through the lease termination date of August 1, 2022.  Annual base rent will be $7,890,000 
for 2021.  Base rent for January through August 1, 2022, will be $3,840,000.   
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The lease restricts use of the premises to certain recreational purposes and contains other operating 
requirements.  The lease has also required that 5 percent of gross revenues be deposited into a separate 
bank account (the “Reserve Account”) to be used for repair, renovations, and replacements of fixtures, 
furnishings, equipment, and improvements at Stone Mountain Park.  During 2009, 2011, and again in 
2015, the lease was amended such that SMMA may fund a portion of the Reserve Account deposits 
for 2010 through 2020.  The 2015 amendment also reduced the Company’s required annual 
contributions to the Reserve Account by $500,000 for calendar years 2016 through 2020.  
Expenditures from the Reserve Account require SMMA approval.  As of January 3, 2021 and 
December 29, 2019, respectively, all deposits in the reserve account have been approved for 
expenditure.  During 2020, the lease was amended to specify the reserve requirement through the 
termination date of August 1, 2022. The reserve requirement for the capital year of June 1, 2020, 
through May 31, 2021, will be 2.5 percent of 2020 annual gross revenue.  The reserve requirement for 
capital year June 1, 2021, through May 31, 2022, will be 2.5 percent of 2021 annual gross revenue.  
There is no reserve requirement for the months of June and July 2022.  

The Company also has a management agreement with Marriott Hotel Services (Marriott), which 
encompasses the operations of a conference center, a hotel, and two golf courses located at Stone 
Mountain Park.  The term of the management agreement runs current with the SMMA lease 
agreement and will terminate on August 1, 2022, and also contains Reserve Account requirements 
in accordance with the SMMA lease.  In accordance with the 2015 amendment, the Reserve 
Account for Marriott operations were fully funded by the lessor through 2020.  Fees due to 
Marriott under the management agreement are a percentage of gross revenues, plus a percentage of 
profits after they exceed designated levels.  The management agreement contains operations 
funding and performance requirements along with termination options if these requirements are not 
met in specified time periods.  The Company or SMMA is also responsible for funding certain 
capital projects.  

A fee of $638,800 is due to Marriott for early termination of the management agreement which was 
recognized in other accrued expenses in the Company’s balance sheet on January 3, 2021.  
Included in accounts payable at January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, are approximately 
$1,990,000 and $2,163,000, respectively, which are due to Marriott or SMMA for reimbursement 
of repairs, renovations, and replacement of furnishings, fixtures, equipment and other 
improvements and net operating loss in accordance with provisions of the management agreement.  
Included in accounts receivable at January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, is approximately $0 
and $156,000, respectively, due from Marriott based on sales at the end of fiscal year 2020 and 
2019.  Resort income (loss) as shown in the statements of operations includes the Company’s share 
of operating profit (loss) from Marriott-managed properties after management fees are deducted.  
Per the terms of the Marriott Management Agreement, the Company advanced Marriott $763,329 
for initial working capital at inception of the agreement, of which $0 is expected to be recovered 
with the termination of the lease agreement.  Impairment of the advance under management 
agreement is included in other operating expenses on the Company’s statement of operations.  
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As a result of the Company’s decision to exit the SMMA lease and Marriott agreement, the 
Company incurred impairment losses during the year ended January 3, 2021, of approximately 
$14,508,000 and other lease exit costs incurred totaled approximately $1,230,000, which included 
approximately $340,000 in deferred employee compensation reported in accrued payroll and 
payroll taxes on the balance sheet.  This deferred compensation consists of stay bonuses and related 
estimated taxes and benefits that are being accrued over the remaining service period and are 
subject to forfeiture upon early termination.  As of January 3, 2021, the maximum estimated cost 
the Company expects to incur under such arrangements totaled approximately $3.1 million. 

Other Operating Leases  

Other noncancelable operating leases expire in various years through 2024.  These leases generally 
require the Company to pay all executory costs (property taxes, maintenance, and insurance).  
Rental payments include minimum rentals. 

Future minimum lease payments including the SMMA lease and other operating leases at      
January 3, 2021, were: 

2021 8,170,000$    
2022 4,010,000      
2023 30,000           
2024 10,000           

 
 

Note 4: Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following: 

2020 2019

Merchandise 695,078$         740,019$         
Food 102,097           237,640           
Supplies 625,466           677,446           
Raw materials 71,097             65,557             

1,493,738$      1,720,662$      
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Note 5: Related Party Transactions 

As of January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, the Company owed $155,600,000 and 
$148,650,000, respectively, in unsecured advances to HEC which are due upon demand.  The 
Company incurred interest of $6,308,059 and $7,432,603 on these advances from HEC for the 
years ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, respectively, of which $5,984,066 and 
$61,089 remains payable at January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, respectively.  Interest is 
incurred at HEC’s weighted average rate for funded debt, which was approximately 5 percent at 
January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019.  The Company has been dependent upon financing from 
HEC and previously HFEC to fund continuing operations.  To date HEC has provided these funds 
and has expressed the ability and intent to continue to provide funds in future years.   

The Company paid certain fees to HEC and related entities for administrative support and receives 
reimbursement for certain fees for a net total of $788,918 and $1,269,134 for the years ended 
January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, respectively.   

The Company’s employees participate in a profit-sharing and a contributory employee savings 401(k) 
plan administered by HEC.  Contributions to the profit-sharing plan for eligible employees are made at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors of HFEC.  Profit-sharing and 401(k) expenses amounted to $0 
and $384,644 for the years ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, respectively. 

As a subsidiary of HEC, the Company’s assets serve as collateral for HEC term debt.  The amount of 
HEC’s outstanding debt exceeds the total assets of the Company as of January 3, 2021.  These 
guarantees are effective for as long as the related debt is outstanding.  The Company has also 
guaranteed certain bank letters of credit for HEC.  As of January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019, 
letters of credit totaling $382,000 were outstanding for which the Company was contingently liable.  

 

Note 6: Net Interest Expense 

Net interest expense consists of the following: 

2020 2019

Gross interest expense 6,308,059$    7,432,603$    
Less: interest capitalized 6,835 5,327

6,301,224      7,427,276      
Interest income 979 4,390

Net interest expense 6,300,245$    7,422,886$    
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Note 7: Significant Estimates and Concentrations 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require disclosure of 
certain significant estimates and current vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations.  Those 
matters include the following:  

Accrual for Injury Claims 

Management records an estimated liability for guest and employee injuries including costs of 
litigation based upon the facts of each case, prior experience with similar claims, and consultation 
with the Company’s legal counsel.  The amount of actual losses incurred could differ materially 
from the estimates reflected in these financial statements.  

Employee Health Care Claims 

The Company self-insures employee health care costs and charges premiums to participating 
employees.  The Company accrues an estimated liability for employee health care claims incurred 
in excess of the premiums available to pay those costs.  This accrual is recorded by management 
based upon an evaluation of reported cases and historical claims expenses.  The amount of actual 
losses incurred could differ materially from the estimates reflected in these financial statements.  
Based on the current status of HEC’s insurance trust, no additional accrual was required for the 
years ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019. 

Deferred Revenue  

Revenue from the sale of annual passes is deferred when sold and is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over 52 weeks based upon historical experience.  Certain other admission revenue is 
recognized over the estimated period of use. 

General Litigation 

The Company is subject to claims and lawsuits that arise primarily in the ordinary course of 
business.  It is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such claims 
and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company. 

 

Note 8: Current Economic Conditions 

As a result of the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus and the incidence of COVID-19, economic 
uncertainties have arisen which may negatively affect the financial position, results of operations, 
and cash flows of the Company.  The Company temporarily suspended operations at the park for 
part of 2020 and furloughed certain employees which negatively impacted the operating results and 
cash flows of the Company.  The Company is operating at reduced capacity as of March 29, 2021; 
however, the duration of these uncertainties and the ultimate financial effects cannot be reasonably 
estimated at this time.   
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Note 9: Future Change in Accounting Principle 

Accounting for Leases 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board amended its standard related to the accounting for 
leases.  Under the new standard, lessees will now be required to recognize substantially all leases 
on the balance sheet as both a right-of-use asset and a liability.  The standard has two types of 
leases for income statement recognition purposes: operating leases and finance leases.  Operating 
leases will result in the recognition of a single lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term similar to the treatment for operating leases under existing standards.  Finance leases will 
result in an accelerated expense similar to the accounting for capital leases under existing 
standards.  The determination of lease classification as operating or finance will be done in a 
manner similar to existing standards.  The new standard also contains amended guidance regarding 
the identification of embedded leases in service contracts and the identification of lease and 
nonlease components in an arrangement.  The new standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2021.  The Company is evaluating the impact the standard will have 
on the consolidated financial statements; however, the standard could have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements due to the recognition of additional assets and liabilities for 
operating leases. 
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Appendix F 

Protest Procedures 

F-1. Protest Process

An interested Respondent may file a written protest to the SMMA, challenging compliance with applicable 
procurement procedures provided in this Request for Proposal (RFP), subject to the interested 
Respondent compliance with the provisions of this section and subsection.  An “interested Respondent” 
is defined as an actual or prospective offeror with a direct economic interest in the procurement.  In 
challenges relating to the evaluation of proposals and the award of contracts, this generally means a 
Respondent that would potentially be in line for award if the protest were sustained.  Protests must 
demonstrate a reasonable possibility of competitive prejudice; in effect, but for the procuring entity’s 
actions, the protesting party would have had a substantial chance of receiving an award. The presence 
of multiple nonmaterial issues in a solicitation or award does not constitute a material issue unless the 
interested party can establish that those nonmaterial issues together would prejudice the outcome of the 
procurement.  Protests will be resolved in accordance with the following subsections. 

The following general principles shall apply in the review of protests: 

 The standard for reviewing the evaluation of proposals is one of deference to any reasonable
judgement of the evaluation team.  A protesting party’s simple disagreement with the evaluation
team provides no basis for reserving the evaluation team’s allocation of points.

 Governmental officials and state entities are presumed to act in good faith, and a protestor’s
contention that procurement officials, including but not limited to procurement personnel and
evaluation team members, are motivated by bias or bad faith must be supported by convincing
proof.

 The composition of an evaluation team is a matter in which the procuring entity maintains great
discretion.  The qualifications or the composition of an evaluation team may not be questioned
unless the protester provides convincing proof of bad faith, conflict of interest, or actual bias.

 The manner and depth of the procuring entity’s price analysis is a matter within the sound exercise
of the procuring entity’s discretion.  Interested Respondents may not challenge the realism of a
potential; awardee’s price, such as arguing that whether a Respondent’s price is so low that it
reflects a lack of understanding of the procuring entity’s requirements or creates a risk of
unsuccessful performance.

 The procuring entity maintains discretion in establishing its requirements, but only to the extent
that such requirements are not overly restrictive.

 Patent ambiguities must be challenged prior to close of the solicitation.  A Respondent who
chooses to compete under a patently ambiguous solicitation.  A Respondent who chooses to
compete under a patently ambiguous solicitation does so at its own peril and cannot later
complain when the procuring entity proceeds in a manner inconsistent with one of the possible
interpretations.

 Affirmative determinations of responsibility by the procuring entity are subject to protest only in
the following circumstances:

o Challenges alleging that definitive responsibility criteria contained in the solicitation were
not met.

o Challenges identifying significant evidence that the procuring entity failed to consider
available relevant information that, by its nature, would be expected to have strong
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berating on whether the apparent successful Respondent should be found responsible. 
The information in question must concern serious matters that call into question the 
Respondent’s capability or qualification to contract with the state, such as allegations of 
fraud or other potential criminal activity. 

 In making a negative responsibility determination (a determination that a Respondent is non-
responsible), a procuring entity is vested with a wide degree of discretion and, and of necessity,
must rely upon business judgement in exercising that discretion.  Although the determination must
be factually supported and made in good faith, the ultimate decision appropriately is left to the
procuring entity, since the procuring entity must bear the effects of any difficulties experienced in
obtaining the required performance.  For these reasons, a negative determination of responsibility
will generally not be questioned unless the protester can demonstrate bad faith on the part of the
procuring entity or a lack of reasonable basis for the determination.

 A proposal that is received after the exact time specified in the solicitation is considered to be late
and generally will not be considered by the procuring entity.  Respondents are responsible in all
respects for timely submission of proposals.  A Respondent’s protest relating to ability to submit
a timely offer utilizing the state’s electronic bidding system will not be sustained unless the State’s
technical review of the electronic bidding system specifically identifies a system functionality error
that prevented submission of Respondent’s response within two hours prior to close of a
submission.  Increased processing time is not considered to be a system functionality error.

F-2. TYPES OF CHALLENGES

There are numerous different challenges an interested Respondent may make; however, the types of 
challenges are generally organized as follows: 

 Challenge to the Solicitation: Any interested Respondent capable of responding to a
competitive solicitation may file a protest with respect to the competitive solicitation
process, including but not limited to a challenge to specifications or any events of facts
arising during the solicitation process.

 Challenge to the State’s Intended or Actual Contract Award: Any interested Respondent
submitting a timely written response to a competitive solicitation may file a protest with
respect the procuring entity’s intended or actual contract award, including, but not limited
to, events or facts arising during the evaluation and/or negotiation process.

F-3. FORM OF PROTEST

At minimum, the protest must be submitted in writing to j.pettaway@stonemountainparkpark.org and 
must include the following: 

 The name and address of the protestor;
 Appropriate identification of the solicitation;
 A statement of reasons for the protest;
 Supporting exhibits, evidence or documents to substantiate any claims unless not available within

the filing time (in which case the Respondent must proceed to file the protest within the filing
period identified below, but state the expected availability of the material); and,

 The desired remedy.

To ensure the protect process is conducted efficiently and in a manner fair to all parties, a protesting 
Respondent is required to identity all grounds for protest during the protest filing period.  The State 
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Treasurer, at his/her discretion, may deem issues not raised in the protest filing period as voluntarily 
relinquished by the protesting Respondent.  After the protest filing period expires, any grounds for protest 
voluntarily relinquished by the protesting Respondent may not be introduced by the protesting 
Respondent at any time during the protest process or any subsequent litigation. 

F-4. Filing Deadlines

Protests must be received within ten (10) calendar days after the protesting party knows or should have 
known of the occurrence of the action which is protested or the protest filing deadline located in Table A, 
whichever date is earlier.  Untimely protests will not be considered absent evidence of malfeasance or 
administrative error by the procuring entity that substantially impaired and interested Respondent’s 
ability to file a timely protest.  In the event that timely access to records has not been provided as required 
to file a protest within the filing period, indicating the failure of the procuring entity to provide timely 
access to records and reserving the right to file an amended protest upon production of such records.  If 
an interested Respondent fails to file a protest by the applicable deadline, the SMMA CEO may, at 
his/her discretion, deem such failure as the Respondent’s voluntary relinquishment of any grounds 
the Respondent may have for protesting through the protest process or through subsequent litigation. 

Table A 
Protest Filing Deadlines 

Type of Protest Protest Filing Deadline 

Challenge to Competitive Solicitation Process 
Two business days prior to the closing date and 

time of the solicitation as published on the 
Georgia Procurement Registry. 

Challenge to an Intended or Actual Contract 
Award as posted in the Notice of Intent to Award 

The protest must be filed within ten calendar 
days of the date the Notice of Intent to Award is 

posted. 

F-5. Stay of Procurement During Protest Review

When a protest challenging the competitive solicitation process has been timely filed at least two business 
days prior to the closing date and time, the solicitation will not close until a final decision resolving 
the protest has been issued, unless the SMMA CEO makes a written determination that the closing of 
the solicitation without delay is necessary to protect the interests of the state. 

When a protest challenging an intended contract award has been timely filed, the procuring entity will 
not proceed to actual contract award unless the SMMA CEO makes a written determination that the 
issuance of a contract or performance of the contract without delay is necessary to protect the 
interests of the state. 

If it is determined that it is necessary to proceed with contract performance without delay, the Respondent 
with this contingent contract may proceed with performance and receive payment for work performed in 
strict accordance with the terms of the contract; however, such Respondent will not be entitled to 
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reimbursement for any capital outlay costs, or other up-front expenditures incurred in performing the 
contract.  The provisions of this paragraph are not applicable to a protest pertaining to events or facts 
arising during the solicitation process. 

F-6. Protest Resolution

The parties involved in the protest have, upon written request filed within ten calendar days from the 
filing of the protest, a right to a hearing before the SMMA CEO.  If a hearing is requested, the 
SMMA CEO, or designee, shall issue a Procedural Order, scheduling and providing details for a 
hearing. The parties may submit documentary evidence and witness testimony in the form of affidavits 
prior to the hearing.  The SMMA CEO may solicit additional information from the parties at any time 
prior to the issuing of the final decision.  The requesting party may request at any time that the hearing 
be conducted before a court reporter.  Such request must be in writing and include an agreement by 
the requesting party that it shall pay for the court reporting services for such hearing.  The 
requesting party shall be responsible for securing the services of the court reporter and shall notify 
the SMMA CEO so that accommodations can be made for a court reporter at the hearing.  To be 
made part of the record, the original transcript of any such proceedings shall be submitted to the 
SMMA CEO as soon as the transcript is available, without cost.  The SMMA CEO will make a 
decision on the protest as expeditiously as possible after receiving all relevant requested 
information.  The decision of the SMMA CEO will be the final action regarding the protest. 

Table B 
Protest Remedies 

If Protest concerns… Then, available relief includes, but is not limited 
to the following: 

Challenge to Competitive Solicitation Process 

 Modification of the solicitation document.
 Extension of the solicitation closing date

and time (as appropriate).
 Cancellation of the solicitation.

Challenge to an Intended or Actual Contract 
Award as posted in the Notice of Intent to Award 

 Revision or cancellation of the NOIA/NOA.
 Re-evaluation and re-award.
 Cancellation.
 Re-solicitation.

F-7. COSTS

In no event will a Respondent be entitled to recover an costs incurred in connection with the solicitation 
or protest process, including, but not limited to, the costs of preparing a response to the solicitation, the 
costs of participating in the protest/request for formal review process or any attorneys’ fees. 

262


	SDC Financials.pdf
	2019 Audit Report and Letter
	2020 Audit Report




